DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Clerk of the Court Received 09/09/2024 04:58 PM Filed 09/09/2024 04:58 PM

District of Columbia Court of Appeals Case Nos. 24-CV-439, 24-CV-444, 24-CV-480

District of Columbia Superior Court Case No. 2019-CA-008177-B

2135 NE, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

DLY GEORGE'S WAREHOUSE, LLC, et al.,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF 2135 NE LLC AND EKHO EVENTS LLC¹

/s/ Philip M. Musolino Philip M. Musolino D.C. Bar No.: 294652 Musolino & Dessel, PLLC 1615 L Street, NW, Suite 440 Washington, D.C. 20036 Phone: (202) 466-3883 Email: <u>pmusolino@musolinodessel.com</u> *Counsel for Appellant 2135 NE LLC*

A. Statement Of Jurisdiction:

This matter was initially brought in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-921. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

B. Statement Of Issues Presented For Review:

- (1) Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to conclude that the motion was neither ripe nor justiciable;
- (2) Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to construe the easement to provide for unimpeded access; and
- (3) Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to consider the intent of the parties to the easement and surrounding circumstances.

C. Statement Of The Case:

This matter is here on appeal from an "Omnibus Order" entered on February 20, 2024 by the Honorable Robert R. Rigsby granting in part Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. Disposition of the remaining claims was made by stipulation on April 8, 2024, and following trial on the merits on April 8, 2024, and a final order on April 11, 2024. This appeal followed.

This case commenced on December 13, 2019, when Plaintiff DLY George's Warehouse, LLC ("DLY" and/or "Plaintiff") filed a two (2) count Complaint, which asserted relief which asserted relief as follows: Declaratory Judgment (Count I); and Permanent Injunctive Relief (Count II).

On January 21, 2020, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff 2135 NE, LLC ("2135") filed its Answer and a two count Counterclaim against Plaintiff as follows: Declaratory Judgment (Count I); and Private Nuisance (Count II).

On February 6, 2020, Defendant Ekho Events, Inc., now known as Ekho Events LLC, ("Ekho" or "Echostage") filed their Answer to the Complaint and Crossclaim against 2135. Ekho's Crossclaim asserted relief as follows: Breach of Lease (Count I); and Indemnification (Count II).

On February 21, 2020, Ekho dismissed their Crossclaim against 2135.

On February 27, 2020, Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant filed their Answer to Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's Counterclaim.

On August 17, 2021, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction. On August 31, 2021, Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant filed its Opposition to Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction.

On September 28, 2021, the Court commenced an evidentiary hearing on Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction. Further evidence

2

was taken On December 6, December 8, 2021, January 18, 2022 and January 19, 2022.

On February 11, 2022, the parties timely filed Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Proposed Orders.

On March 9, 2022, the Court issued an Order denying Defendant/Counter-

Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction (the "2022 Order"). Appendix, at

("Appx.") D.

On March 11, 2022, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff noted its appeal of the 2022

Order.

On June 21, 2023, this Court issued a Memorandum Opinion and Judgment

affirming the Superior Court's denial of Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff's Motion for

Preliminary Injunction. As this Court explained:

The trial court evaluated the motion under all four preliminary injunction factors and we are satisfied that it considered "all the issues which necessarily underlie the issuance of an injunction." *Wieck*, 350 A.2d at 387.² However, we will not examine its reasoning as to the remaining three factors, especially because the most contested factor—likelihood of success on interpreting the language of the easement—hews so closely to "the overall merits of the dispute between the parties," which "it is not our task to resolve." *Id.* The failure of 2135 to demonstrate a threat of irreparable harm is sufficient to determine the outcome of this appeal. *See id.* ("A preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy, and the trial court's power to issue it should be exercised only after careful deliberation has persuaded it of the necessity for the relief."). At 3.

² Wieck v. Sterenbuch, 350 A.2d 384, 387 (D.C. 1976).

On November 17, 2023, Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant and Defendant/Counter-

Plaintiff 2135 filed their motions for summary judgment on the complaint.

On November 20, 2023, Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff Ekho filed their Joinder

In Support Of Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff 2135's Motion For Summary Judgment.

On December 1, 2023, all parties filed their respective oppositions.

On December 8, 2023, Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant and Defendant/Counter-

Plaintiff 2135 filed their respective replies.

On January 17, 2024, the Honorable Yvonne M. Williams held and continued

the Pretrial Conference pending the ruling on the Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant and

Defendant/Counter-Plaintiff 2135 motions for summary judgment.

On February 20, 2024, Judge Rigsby issued an Omnibus Order. The order stated in pertinent as follows:

I. <u>Count I – Declaratory Judgment:</u>

The parties move for summary judgment as to Count I of Plaintiff's Complaint in their respective motions....

Here, the intent of the creators of the easement are irrelevant when the documents themselves are unambiguous such as the case here. Accordingly, summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff as to Count I is appropriate and Plaintiff's Motion is **GRANTED** as to Count I.

As the Court found that Plaintiff has proven its burden in the above analysis, Defendant 2135's competing motion for summary judgment as to Count I is summarily **DENIED**.

There is no basis for the Plaintiff to unreasonably interfere with Ekho's rights to the easement nor should the Court's ruling be construed as such.

II. <u>Count II – Permanent Injunction:</u>

...Plaintiff's injuries do not appear immediate or concrete for purposes of summary judgment as to Defendant 2135....

In drawing all reasonable inferences in the non-movant's favor, there does not appear to be a violation of the ROW for purposes of the *Motions*....

As to Count I of the Complaint:

...[T]he language of that certain Deed (the "WFJ Deed") dated April 14, 2010 and recorded April 19, 2010 as Document No. 201003307 among the land records of the District of Columbia, pursuant to which Defendant 2135 NE, LLC ("2135 NE") acquired (and presently owns) fee simple title to the real property located at 2135 Queens Chapel Road, NE, Washington, DC (the "2135 Property"), is unambiguous, including, but not limited to, the "Right of Way" described therein over a portion of the real property located at 2145 Queens Chapel Road, NE, Washington, DC (the "2145 Property") presently owned by Plaintiff DLY George's Warehouse, LLC "DLY").

- 1. The WFJ Deed restricts use of the Right of Way only by 2135 NE and its permitted users of the Right of Way (including, but not limited to, Defendant Ekho Events Inc. ("Ekho")), and no such restrictions apply to DLY or its permitted users of the Right of Way.³
- 2. The WFJ Deed does not provide 2135 NE or its permitted users of the Right of Way with unfettered, exclusive or unconditional use of the Right of Way and loading dock on a 24/7 basis.
- 3. The WFJ Deed prohibits 2135 NE and its permitted users of the Right of Way from parking (temporarily or otherwise) on the Right of Way, interfering with DLY or any other of DLY's permitted

³ "This Order applies to 2135 NE, LLC as the owner of record of the 2135 Property and, as such, the extant "Grantee" under the WFJ Deed, and to DLY George's Warehouse, LLC as the owner of record of the 2145 Property and, as such, the extant "Grantor" under the WFJ Deed." February 20, 2024, Omnibus Order, Appx. E, at n.4.

user's use of the Right of Way, or using the Right of Way for any purpose whatsoever (other than ingress and egress for accessing and using the loading dock and rear of the 2135 Property).

February 20, 2024 Omnibus Order, (the "Omnibus Order") Appx. E, at (unnumbered) 3-8.

On April 8, 2024, a bench trial was conducted and concluded.⁴ At the

commencement of the trial, Plaintiff/Counter Defendant and Defendant/Counter

Plaintiff 2135 LLC submitted a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal and Related Relief

which stated as follows:

- 1. Plaintiff/Counter Defendant DLY George's Warehouse LLC dismisses with prejudice Count II (Permanent Injunctive Relief) of its Complaint as to Defendant/Counter Plaintiff 2135 NE LLC.
- On March 9, 2022, Judge Rigsby denied 2135 NE LLC's Motion for Preliminary Injunction (the "2022 Order"). On February 20, 2024, Judge Rigsby entered Declaratory Judgment and denied Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on Permanent Injunction (the "2024 Order") (collectively the "Orders").
- 3. Defendant/Counter Plaintiff 2135 NE LLC dismisses with prejudice Count II (Private Nuisance) of its Counterclaim as to Plaintiff/Counter Defendant DLY George's Warehouse LLC.
- 4. These dismissals resolve all remaining claims and counterclaims asserted in this case between Plaintiff/Counter Defendant DLY George's Warehouse LLC and Defendant/Counter Plaintiff 2135 NE LLC.

⁴ No party had sought consolidation under SCR-C-v 65(a)(2), which provides:

Before or after beginning the hearing on a motion for a preliminary injunction, the court may advance the trial on the merits and consolidate it with the hearing. Even when consolidation is not ordered, evidence that is received on the motion and that would be admissible at trial becomes part of the trial record and need not be repeated at trial.

- 5. These dismissals do not resolve any claims between Plaintiff/Counter Defendant DLY George's Warehouse LLC and Defendant Ekho Events LLC.
- 6. These dismissals do not affect, dissolve, vacate, alter, or amend any orders or judgments previously entered in this case, including the Orders.
- 7. No orders, judgments, notices, or rulings entered in this case after the filing of this notice shall be applicable to, binding on, used as evidence or precedent against or effective against 2135 NE LLC or 2135 NE, Washington, DC and shall not constitute or be used by any party to support *res judicata*, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, fact preclusion or liens or title claims against 2135 NE LLC or 2135 NE, Washington, DC. Neither this notice nor any proceedings in this case after the filing of this notice shall be used against 2135 NE LLC or DLY George's Warehouse LLC in any of the following cases: 2020-CA-004062-R(RP); 2020-CA-001875-B; 2021-CA-002390-B; and 2021-CA-001300-B. This Paragraph 7 does not affect, dissolve, vacate, alter, or amend any orders or judgments entered in this case prior to the filing of this notice, including the Orders.
- 8. No orders, judgments, notices or rulings entered in this case after the filing of this notice shall constitute or be used by 2135 NE LLC to support *res judicata*, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, fact preclusion as to any claims or causes of action of DLY George's Warehouse LLC against 2135 NE LLC or shall be used as evidence or precedent by 2135 NE LLC against DLY George's Warehouse LLC or 2145 NE, Washington, DC. This Paragraph 8 does not affect, dissolve, vacate, alter, or amend any orders or judgments entered in this case prior to the filing of this notice, including the Orders.
- 9. Any and all claims between Defendant Ekho Events LLC and 2135 NE LLC are reserved and the foregoing dismissals shall not constitute *res judicata*, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, or fact preclusion with respect to any such claims.

April 8, 2024 Notice of Voluntary Dismissal and Related Relief, Appx. F.

On April 11, 2024, Judge Williams issued in open court the following

pertinent findings and conclusions:

A bench trial was held on Monday, May [*sic*] 8th, 2024, to resolve plaintiff DLY's claim for permanent injunction against defendant Ekho Events LLC to prohibit vehicles from parking in or otherwise interfering with the use of the right-of-way granted by the 2010 WFJ deed, allowing use of the loading dock behind plaintiff's property at 2145 Queens Chapel Road NE....

Judge Rigsby already decided declarant has --issued a declaratory judgement holding in part that the...WFJ deed does not provide 2135 NE or permitted users of the right-of-way with unfettered, exclusive, or unconditional use of the right-of-way and loading dock on a 24/7 basis.

Judge Rigsby also declared the WFG -- FJ [*sic*] deed prohibits 2135 NE and its permitted usage of the right-of-way from parking, temporarily or otherwise, on the right-of-way, interfering with DLY or any other of DLY's permitted user's rights of the right-of-way or using the right-of-way for any purpose whatsoever, other than ingress and egress for accessing and using the loading dock and rear of the 2135 property.

Because 2135 leases its property to defendant Ekho Events LLC, Ekho Events is bound by the terms of the WFJ deed. Ekho Events LLC is a concert venue owned by Insomniac, which is owned by Live Nation. Concerts are generally held on Friday and Saturday evenings of every week and host approximately 2,800 people.

To host the concerts, Ekho Events uses the loading dock to load and unload concert equipment, including lighting, lasers, scaffolding, cryogenics, video equipment, sound systems, custom set pieces, and that's just to name a few of the things that get delivered on a weekly basis to Ekho Events....

At issue before the Court is whether Ekho Events LLC's use of the loading dock violates the WFJ deed, thus warranting a permanent injunction to enjoin it from continuing to do so.

Upon consideration of the facts presented at Monday's trial, the Court finds that a permanent injunction is not warranted in this case, and orders judgement for defendant Ekho Events....

...[T]he Court cannot find that there is even an injury, let alone an irreparable injury.

Moreover, even if there was an injury or some sort of act that violated the WFJ deed, and the Court does not find that any of those acts occurred, DLY has not shown that any injury is imminent.

Regarding adequate remedy at law...Plaintiff admits that they have an adequate remedy at law whether or not a permanent injunction is granted.

Balance of hardships: ...for defendant to require each of its delivery vendors to move their delivery truck every time they are in the defendant venue preparing to load or unload the truck is a significant burden on the defendant; particularly, where the plaintiff has not demonstrated that it is burdened at all by the presence of defendant's delivery trucks.

("2024 Trial Order") April 11, 2024 Transcript of Proceedings, Appx. G, at 3:19-25; 4:24-25; 5:3-25; 6:1, 12-19; 10:17-22; 11:12, 17-18; 12:4; and 13:1-6.

D. Statement Of The Facts:⁵

i. <u>The Properties, Deeds, and Leases:</u>

2135 Queen's Chapel Road, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20018 (the "2135

Property") and 2145 Queen's Chapel Road, N.E., Washington D.C. 20018 (the

"2145 Property") are adjoining commercial properties. The 2135 Property is owned

by Defendant 2135 NE, LLC, and the 2145 Property is owned by Plaintiff DLY

George's Warehouse, LLC ("DLY").

Prior to 2010, both properties were part of a single lot, along with a third lot, and were owned by WFJ, LLC which was managed by Mr. Cornell Jones. The

⁵ Derived from the statement of material facts not in genuine issue or dispute in the opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

parcel which later became the 2135 Property was operated by the predecessor of 2135 NE LLC as a one-story mezzanine nightclub and concert venue with a liquor license. The parcel which later became the 2145 Property was improved by a three-story vacant parking garage.

A predecessor to 2135 LLC entered a contract of sale and leasehold arrangement with WFJ, LLC in 2008, pending subdivision of the consolidated parcel. From 2008 to 2010, Mr. Sonny Preet, a 50% member of 2135 LLC with Mr. Raj Dua, managed its day-to-day operations. 2135 LLC renovated the 2135 property, spending over a million dollars. Following the subdivision in 2010, 2135 LLC, by Deed dated April 14, 2010, and recorded April 19, 2010 ("The Deed"), acquired fee simple title to the "2135 Property"). Pursuant to the Deed, an easement (the "Easement", or "Right of Way") was conveyed to provide the grantee with the same rights and access as were used prior to the subdivision.

On July 20, 2012, 2135 LLC executed a retail lease for the 2135 Property with Ekho Events, Inc., (the "Tenant").

On or about 2015-2016, Jemal George's Wasserman, LLC ("Jemal") acquired the 2145 Property.

On September 27, 2019, DLY acquired title to the 2145 Property from Jemal.

ii. <u>The Creation of the Easement:</u>

In order to operate the nightclub and concert venue at the 2135 Property,

round-the-clock access to the rear of that property, including the loading dock and the sidewalk, is necessary, and was necessary prior to the subdivision in 2010. No access through the front of the 2135 Property for equipment, supplies, and deliveries for performers, during or prior to performances, is available and was available before the subdivision.

Plaintiff reviewed the Easement before it acquired the 2145 Property. Plaintiff had inspected the 2145 Property, and the Easement, on several occasions going back to 2015.

Before and during the operation of the nightclub and concert venue from 2008 to 2010, Mr. Sanjeev Preet ("Mr. Preet"), now a managing member of 2135 LLC, recognized that continuous access to the loading dock and the rear of the 2135 Property was the "lifeline" for commercial operation of the 2135 Property. 2135 LLC would not have sought acquisition of the 2135 Property without that access.

2135 LLC negotiated for acquisition of an Easement which, following subdivision, would provide 2135 LLC with continuous access to the rear of the 2135 Property, including the alley, loading dock and the sidewalk. 2135 paid an additional \$400,000.00 for the Easement.

The Easement provides:

For the sole purpose of accessing and using the loading dock and rear of 2135 Queens Chapel Road, N.E., Washington, D.C., situate on Lot 144, in Square 4258, for the benefit of the Grantee, its successors and or assigns. Grantee, or any permitted users of Grantees, shall not park on the Right of Way, interfere with Grantor's or any other permitted user's use of the Right of Way, or use of Right of Way for any other purpose whatsoever. Grantee may install a gate to control access to the right-of-way. Grantee, its successors and/or assigns, shall provide gate keys to Grantor, and/or its successors and assigns, and/or Grantor's tenants. Costs for maintenance and repairs of the right-of-way shall be borne equally by Grantor and Grantee, their respective successors and/or assigns.

April 14, 2010 Easement, Appx. H.

iii. Use of the Easement from 2010 - 2012:

From 2008 to 2012, before the Echostage lease was signed, 2135 LLC used the rear of the 2135 Property, including the alley, sidewalk, and loading dock, without interruption, 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

iv. <u>The Echostage Use of the Easement from 2012 – 2019:</u>

Echostage is indirectly owned by Live Nation Entertainment, Inc., a public company. It provides venues for world-class artists, and it operated at the 2135 Property solely as a concert venue, and not as a nightclub.

Approximately 70% of artists travel with their own stage and sound equipment.

Echostage handles two (2) types of shows: (1) fly-ins, when artists fly in with their crew to perform; and (2) full tours, when artists bring their own production equipment. Fly-ins require Echostage to provide equipment for concert production, *i.e.*, audio and lighting consoles, lighting packages, video wall packages, and other requested equipment. Full tours require Echostage to be readily available from 5:00am to 9:00am for unloading production trucks. At any given concert, artists can bring five (5) to six (6) semi-trucks. Unloading production trucks requires 10 to 20 stagehands over the course of two (2) to seven (7) hours of work. After the concert, anywhere from 12:00am to 4:00am depending on the pendency of the concert, the production trucks return, and the equipment is loaded. Production trucks depart Echostage by roughly 5:00 AM and the process is repeated with the next concert. Truck drivers are union workers, meaning that the unloading and loading schedule is both very stringent and uncertain.

Delivery trucks typically make "Northeast Runs" meaning they either come from or go to New York City or Philadelphia. Truck drivers inform Echostage when they will be making their deliveries not *vice versa*. Often ten (10) to 15 stagehands are waiting hours for trucks to make their deliveries.

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