No. 24-CV-0439(L), 24-CV-0444 & 24-CV-0480 
 

In the 
District of Columbia 
Court of Appeals 

 
2135 NE, LLC, et al., 

    Appellants/Cross-Appellees, 

v. 

DLY GEORGE’S WAREHOUSE, LLC, 
    Appellee/Cross-Appellant. 

 
On Appeal from the 2019-CA-008177-B  

In The District Of Columbia Superior Court, Civil Division, 
 

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT  
 

 
Stephen J. O’Connor 
D.C. Bar No.: 391403  
TOBIN O’CONNOR CONCINO P.C. 
5335 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Suite 700  
Washington, DC 20015 
(202) 362-5900 
sjoconnor@tobinoconnor.com 
 

Bradshaw Rost  
D.C. Bar No.: 376064  
TENENBAUM & SAAS, P.C., Suite 200  
4504 Walsh Street, Suite 200  
Chevy Chase, Maryland 20815

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

2135 LLC and its tenant Echostage maintain that the practice of allowing 

vehicles to remain idle on the Right of Way after the delivery of the equipment is 

completed and until the equipment is ready to be loaded back onto the vehicles does 

not violate the prohibition against parking on the Right of Way.4 This interpretation 

is contrary to the explicit restrictions contained in the WFJ Deed that prohibit 

Echostage from using the Right of Way to “park” vehicles. The WFJ Deed 

unambiguously provides that the Right of Way is established “for the sole purpose 

of accessing and using the loading dock,” but in using the Right of Way for that 

limited purpose the WFJ Deed mandates that Echostage “shall not park on the 

easement and right of way, or interfere with [DLY’s] use of said easement and right 

of way, or use of said easement and right of way for any other purpose whatsoever.”  

 
4 For ease of reference, the term “equipment” is being used herein to describe 
whatever items or material are being delivered and then removed from the building 
at the 2135 Property by use of the loading dock. Further, Defendants’ violation of 
the WFJ Deed also includes the parking of passenger vehicles on the Right of Way 
transporting performers and personnel to the concert and waiting for hours on the 
Right of Way until the performers or personnel are ready to leave, along with 
workers waiting for extended periods of time on the loading dock for vehicles to 
arrive. 
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Simply stated, once the equipment is unloaded from the vehicles at the loading 

dock or the passengers have arrived, Echostage is required to remove the vehicles 

from the Right of Way and relocate the vehicles either to the rear parking lot on the 

2135 Property located immediately adjacent to the loading dock, or to the leased lot 

nearby where the vehicles are sent during concert events, or some other location. 

Only when the equipment is ready to be removed from the 2135 Property or the 

passengers are ready to leave may the vehicles return to the Right of Way to load the 

equipment back onto the vehicles or retrieve the passengers and then leave the Right 

of Way.  

The trial court erred by adopting Echostage’s erroneous interpretation of the 

WFJ Deed by ruling that the WFJ Deed allowed Echostage to leave its vehicles 

parked and “idle” on the Right of Way from the moment when removal of the 

equipment from vehicles was completed until such time Echostage decides it is time 

to remove the equipment from the 2135 Property. The trial court, however, correctly 

found that the evidence at trial established without question that the vehicles 

remained “idle” on the Right of Way for many hours after the equipment had been 

fully unloaded from the vehicles and placed inside the building at the 2135 Property. 

Allowing the vehicles to remain idle for many hours on the Right of Way constitutes 

the parking that is expressly prohibited by the WFJ Deed. The trial court erred by 

not properly applying the ruling by Judge Rigsby that had correctly interpreted the 
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WFJ Deed to prohibit temporary parking on the Right of Way to these uncontested 

facts. In so doing, the trial court violated the law of the case doctrine that controlled 

the trial court’s authority at trial. This evidence, once evaluated under the proper 

interpretation of the WFJ Deed, demonstrates that Echostage was violating the 

prohibition against parking set forth in the WFJ Deed.  

The trial court erred in denying DLY’s request for a permanent injunction by 

improperly applying the test for a preliminary injunction rather than the different 

four-part test for a permanent injunction. By the time of trial, DLY had already 

prevailed on the merits in establishing that Echostage was not allowed to park, 

temporarily or otherwise, on the Right of Way. Thus, the first part of the four-part 

test for a permanent injunction had been satisfied. The evidence established that DLY 

satisfied the remaining three parts of the test (i.e., inadequate remedy at law, 

balancing of hardships, and public interest). Judge Williams erred by ruling that (i) 

the ability to file another lawsuit for violating the Right of Way afforded DLY an 

adequate remedy at law and not applying the rule of law that interference with 

property rights is deemed irreparable injury; and (ii)  the inconvenience of requiring 

Echostage to abide by its contractual obligations not to park on the Right of Way 

was more important than protecting DLY’s property rights. Finally, the public 

interest (which Judge Williams did not even consider) favors enforcement of 

property rights.  
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Echostage’s argument that Judge Rigsby failed to consider extrinsic evidence 

is misplaced. Judge Rigsby considered extrinsic evidence for purposes of 

determining whether the WJF Deed was ambiguous. Once that threshold 

determination that it was not ambiguous was made, Judge Rigsby was correct in not 

considering other extrinsic evidence that sought to alter, vary or contradict the 

unambiguous prohibition against parking on the Right of Way. Nor was any of the 

extrinsic evidence offered by Defendants excluded from the record and none of the 

extrinsic evidence altered the common usage of the word “park” and a reasonable 

understanding of the mandate that the “user shall not park” on the Right of Way.  

Defendants’ argument that Judge Rigsby erred by not ruling that Defendants 

had the right to unimpeded access to the Right of Way is without merit since there 

was no evidence that DLY was impeding Defendants’ use of the Right of Way. 

Moreover, for purposes of their appeal Defendants only request that their Motion for 

Summary Judgment should be granted is superfluous since the only relief requested 

in that motion was that Judge Rigsby deny DLY’s motion for summary judgment, 

and they did not request any other specific affirmative relief in that motion. More 

importantly, the denial of a motion for summary judgment is not subject to an appeal. 

Finally, the dispositive issue of whether Defendants’ use of the Right of Way 

violated the prohibition against parking was ripe for Declaratory Relief by way of a 

motion for summary judgment. Defendants’ argument would have the Court adopt 
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an unprecedented rule of law that Declaratory Relief is not permitted unless a 

preliminary injunction is issued at the same time, thereby emasculating the very 

purpose of a declaratory judgment which is to avoid further controversy and a need 

to seek entry of a preliminary injunction. 

In any event, that issue is irrelevant since a final contested trial was held which 

evidence established that DLY was entitled to a permanent injunction based upon 

the unambiguous provision of the WFJ Deed as applied to the evidence. So whether 

Judge Rigsby’s Declaratory Judgment should have been entered in the absence of a 

concurrent entry of a preliminary injunction is irrelevant for this appeal since the 

relief sought by DLY at trial is the same relief it sought before Judge Rigsby.  

VI. ARGUMENT 
 
1. DLY Was Entitled to a Permanent Injunction. 
 

(A) Judge Rigsby Correctly Interpreted the Right of Way under the WFJ 
Deed. 

 
Judge Rigsby’s Declaratory Judgment and interpretation of the WFJ Deed is 

reviewed de novo. See Caesar v. Westchester Corp., 280 A.3d 176, 184 (D.C. 2022) 

(“We review grants of summary judgment de novo and apply the same standard as 

the trial court.”); Aziken v. D.C., 70 A.3d 213, 219 (D.C. 2013) (“Whether a contract 

is ambiguous is a legal question, which this court decides de novo.”) 
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Judge Rigsby’s Declaratory Judgment that the WFJ Deed was unambiguous 

and prohibited “parking (temporary or otherwise on the ROW” was correct. Judge 

Williams failed to apply Judge Rigsby’s Declaratory Judgment to the evidence 

presented at the trial, and therefore erred in rendering the Final Decision and violated 

the law of the case doctrine.5 For purposes of this appeal, however, whether Judge 

Rigsby’s Declaratory Judgment was binding upon Judge Williams is somewhat 

academic since this Court has explained that “in an appeal to this court where views 

of the law expressed by a judge at one stage of proceedings differ from those of 

another at another stage, the important question is not whether there was a difference, 

but which view was right.” Williams v. Paul, 945 A.2d 607, 611 (D.C. 2008). Thus, 

the threshold and dispositive issue for this appeal is whether this Court agrees with 

Judge Rigsby’s Declaratory Judgment that the WFJ Deed is unambiguous and 

plainly prohibits parking, temporary or otherwise, on the Right of Way. 

Defendants’ interpretation would allow vehicles to remain parked on the Right 

of Way, not being used for active loading or unloading of equipment, from the time 

the equipment is first unloaded until Echostage decides it is time to have the 

equipment removed from the building at the 2135 Property and loaded back on the 

vehicles. Similarly, this interpretation would allow passenger vehicles to remain on 

 
5 See Bernal v. United States, 162 A.3d 128, 133 (D.C. 2017) (“The law-of-the-case 
doctrine states that “once the court has decided a point in a case, that point becomes 
and remains settled unless or until it is reversed or modified by a higher court.”)  
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the Right of Way until the individuals to be transported are ready to leave the 

building, during which period of time the loading dock is not being used.  

Such an interpretation improperly defines the prohibition on parking and the 

use of the Right of Way in accordance with the individual needs and subjective 

desires of Echostage, rather than the objective terms of the WFJ Deed, thereby 

rendering the restriction meaningless. The only interpretation that harmonizes the 

prohibition against parking with Defendants’ limited right to use the Right of Way 

for “accessing and using the loading dock” and to access the rear of 2135 Property 

is that once the equipment is unloaded from the vehicle and placed inside the 

building (or the passengers have left the vehicle), the vehicles are required to leave 

the Right of Way until such time Echostage is ready to remove the equipment from 

the building or the passengers are ready to leave.  

The grant of usage of the Right of Way for “the sole purpose of accessing and 

using the loading dock and rear of” the 2135 Property, curtailed by the added 

limitation that the Right of Way shall not be used for “any other purpose,” plainly 

conveys the understanding that Echostage must be actively using the loading dock 

in order for the stoppage of vehicles on the easement to be permissible. The passive 

act of storing vehicles on the Right of Way when there is no active loading and 

unloading of equipment being performed is prohibited. The vehicles may only return 

to the loading dock when Echostage is ready to remove the equipment from the 
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building or the passengers are ready to leave. To allow Echostage’s vehicles to 

remain on the Right of Way for whatever period of time they desire, idle and not in 

use, in between loading and unloading equipment from the vehicles or while the 

passengers are conducting their business within the building constitutes prohibited 

parking on the Right of Way.  

2135 LLC’s primary legal argument below implicitly recognized that its desire 

to be able to leave its vehicles on the Right of Way idle and not in use for extended 

periods of time was prohibited by the common understanding of what it means to 

“park” a vehicle. Specifically, Echostage persistently attempted to modify the 

prohibition on parking by arguing that it was allowed to “temporarily” park on the 

Right of Way. Judge Rigsby expressly addressed this flawed interpretation and ruled 

in his Declaratory Judgment that: “The WFJ Deed prohibits 2135 LLC and its 

permitted users of the Right of Way from parking (temporarily or otherwise) on the 

Right of Way . . .” App.x at 82. Had the Grantor and Grantee intended to allow 

Echostage to store its vehicles on the Right of Way until Echostage was ready to 

remove the equipment from the Building or until the passengers had completed their 

business there would have been no reason to add the express prohibition against 

parking on the Right of Way, or at a minimum, the blanket prohibition on parking 

would have been modified in some way to allow the vehicles to remain idle while 
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the equipment was being used at the premises even though the unloading had been 

completed and the passengers were inside the building conducting their business.  

Moreover, even Defendants’ course of conduct argument undermines its 

interpretation and validates Judge Rigsby’s interpretation. In its summary of the 

evidence without any record cites, Defendants acknowledge that: “After the concert, 

anywhere from 12:00 a.m. to 4:00 a.m. depending on the pendency of the concert, 

the production delivery vehicles return, and the equipment is loaded.” Brief at pg. 

26. [Emphasis Added]. This is consistent with Mr. Cronin’s testimony at trial that 

vehicles are moved to its leased lot during the concert events. Supp. at AA206. Thus, 

Defendants concede that they have the ability to remove their vehicles from the 

loading dock after unloading the equipment and only return when it is time to load 

the equipment back onto the vehicles. 

Echostage’s argument that Judge Rigsby failed to “consider the dispositive 

effect of the word ‘other’” in the phrase “for any other purpose” is incomprehensible. 

Brief at 23. If the argument is intended to mean that the phrase somehow eliminates 

the plain language stating that parking is prohibited, then that interpretation distorts 

the English language into some sort of undecipherable foreign tongue. See Dyer v. 

Bilaal, 983 A.2d 349, 355 (D.C. 2009) (“A court must honor the intentions of the 

parties as reflected in the settled usage of the terms they accepted in the contract, 

and will not torture words to import ambiguity where there is none.” [Emphasis 
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added; quotation marks deleted].); Redmond v. State Farm Ins. Co., 728 A.2d 1202, 

1206 (D.C. 1999) (“A court will not torture words to import ambiguity where the 

ordinary meaning leaves no room for ambiguity.” [quotation marks deleted].) Any 

argument that the phrase “any other purpose” must be construed to mean that 

Defendants are allowed to park on the Right of Way when not actively unloading or 

loading vehicles at the loading dock is hopelessly convoluted and rises to a new level 

of pain in torturing the English language to create an ambiguity where none exists.6 

The concluding phrase “for any other purpose” simply reinforces and makes 

abundantly clear that the owner of the 2135 Property can only use the Right of Way 

for accessing and using the loading dock, or accessing the rear parking lot behind 

the 2135 Property and such access and use excludes and prohibits the use of the 

Right of Way for any other purpose, including but not limited to, allowing the 

vehicles to remain idle and not in use after the delivery is completed – i.e., the 

prohibited parking. 

 
6 Defendants never expressly state that this is the conclusion they want this Court to 
reach based upon their bizarre interpretation of the operative sentence. Rather, after 
presenting this odd interpretation Defendants simply conclude that DLY’s interest in 
the property it owns, as a servient estate, is subordinate to Defendants’ right to use 
the Right of Way, as the dominant estate. That legal proposition, whether accurate or 
not, does nothing to resolve the central issue of whether parking on the Right of Way 
is prohibited. Whatever rights Defendants have to use the Right of Way are defined 
by the plain language of the WFJ Deed since the terms of the grant define to what 
extent DLY’s property rights to the 2145 Property are subordinate to Defendants’ 
rights under the WFJ Deed. 
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In the end, the decisive question is what would a reasonable person understand 

to be the commonly accepted meaning of the word “park” and the phrase “shall not 

park”? See Plain meaning, 11 Williston on Contracts § 32:3 (4th ed.) (“The plain, 

common, or normal meaning of language will be given to the words of a contract.”); 

Kakaes v. George Washington Univ., 683 A.2d 128, 132 (D.C. 1996) (“Words in a 

contract are to be given their common meaning.”) 

“Parking” is defined as “leaving a vehicle in a particular place for a period of 

time.”7 A similar definition is that “Parking is the action of moving a vehicle into a 

place in a garage or by the side of the road where it can be left.”8 Finally, the 

Merriam-Webster dictionary defines park to include “to leave temporarily on a

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